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To the Shareholders of  
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Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Spin Master Corp. (the “Company”), which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and 
the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
(“Canadian GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:  

● Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
● The information, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, in the 

Annual Report.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based 
on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report. If, 
based on the work we will perform on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact to those charged with 
governance. 
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Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 



We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is 
Steven Lawrenson. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
March 4, 2020 
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Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) Notes 2019 2018
Assets      
Current assets
  Cash 115.3 143.5
  Trade receivables 9 370.7 266.8
  Other receivables 9 57.0 68.8
  Inventories 10 185.3 110.1
  Advances on royalties 18.0 18.4
  Prepaid expenses 14.4 14.5

760.7 622.1
Non-current assets
  Intangible assets 12 182.4 165.8
  Goodwill 13 138.8 124.2
  Right-of-use assets 21 78.3 —
  Property, plant and equipment 11 66.8 56.0
  Deferred income tax assets 8 26.2 21.0
  Advances on royalties 3.2 10.1

495.7 377.1
Total assets 1,256.4 999.2
     
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
  Trade payables and accrued liabilities 14 345.6 276.8
  Contract liabilities 14 7.6 7.0
  Provisions and contingent liabilities 16 26.2 29.2
  Income tax payable 8 4.5 6.5
  Lease liabilities 21 15.1 —

399.0 319.5
Non-current liabilities
  Provisions and contingent liabilities 16 9.0 1.7
  Deferred income tax liabilities 8 20.4 15.5
  Lease liabilities 21 67.6 —

97.0 17.2
Total liabilities 496.0 336.7
     
Shareholders’ equity    
  Share capital 17 714.5 694.1
  Accumulated deficit (28.1) (92.4)
  Contributed surplus 35.8 40.9
  Accumulated other comprehensive income 38.2 19.9
Total shareholders’ equity 760.4 662.5
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,256.4 999.2

Approved by the Board of Directors on March 4, 2020.

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions, except earnings per share) Notes 2019 2018

Revenue 4 1,581.6 1,631.5
Cost of sales 796.6 812.7
Gross profit 785.0 818.8

Expenses

  Selling, marketing, distribution and product development 7 395.4 331.9
  Administrative expenses 7 247.9 278.4
  Depreciation and amortization expenses 7 32.6 14.7
  Other expenses (income) 5 6.6 (14.7)
  Foreign exchange loss (gain) 5.8 (9.3)
  Finance costs 6 11.7 9.4
Income before income tax expense 85.0 208.4
Income tax expense 8 20.7 53.5
 Net income 64.3 154.9

Earnings per share

  Basic 18 0.63 1.52
  Diluted 18 0.62 1.51

(US$ millions, except earnings per share) 2019 2018
Net income 64.3 154.9
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to net income

  Foreign currency translation gain (loss) on foreign operations 18.3 (25.9)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 18.3 (25.9)
 Total comprehensive income 82.6 129.0

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(US$ millions) Note
Share

capital
Accumulated

deficit
Contributed

surplus

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income Total

January 1, 2018 681.3 (247.3) 20.3 45.8 500.1
Net income — 154.9 — — 154.9

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — (25.9) (25.9)

Share-based compensation 17 — — 12.2 — 12.2

Shares released from equity participation 17 8.5 — (8.5) — —

Exercise of share options 17 0.4 — (0.1) — 0.3

Shares issued upon settlement of LTIP 17 3.9 — — — 3.9

Change in LTIP settlement method 17 — — 17.0 — 17.0

December 31, 2018 694.1 (92.4) 40.9 19.9 662.5

January 1, 2019 694.1 (92.4) 40.9 19.9 662.5

Net income — 64.3 — — 64.3

Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — 18.3 18.3

Share-based compensation 17 — — 15.2 — 15.2

Shares released from equity participation 17 8.4 — (8.4) — —

Exercise of share options 17 0.2 — (0.1) — 0.1

Shares issued upon settlement of LTIP 17 11.8 — (11.8) — —

December 31, 2019 714.5 (28.1) 35.8 38.2 760.4

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) Notes 2019 2018

Operating activities
  Net income 64.3 154.9
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities

    Income tax expense 8 20.7 53.5
    Interest (income) expense 6 (1.6) 0.3
    Depreciation and amortization 7 84.6 74.2

Amortization of fair value increments to inventories previously acquired — 3.7
    Accretion expense - lease liabilities 6 4.8 —
    Accretion expense - other 6 1.7 2.3
    Amortization of financing costs 6 0.9 0.9
    Impairment of intangible asset and property, plant and equipment 5, 11, 12 5.6 1.1
    Share-based compensation expense 17 15.2 12.2
Net change in non-cash working capital balances 19 (79.9) (19.1)
Net change in provisions and contingent consideration liabilities 7.2 (4.0)
Income taxes paid (27.0) (76.0)
Interest received (paid) 1.9 (0.5)
Share-based compensation payments — (10.6)
Cash provided by operating activities 98.4 192.9

Investing activities
Investment in property, plant and equipment 11 (40.9) (53.5)
Investment in intangible assets 12 (53.3) (29.0)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 11 0.5 —
Business acquisitions 23 (22.5) (77.0)
Cash used in investing activities (116.2) (159.5)

Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities 21 (13.8) —
Issuance of common shares from exercise of share options 0.1 0.2
Proceeds from borrowings 15 — 45.0
Repayment of borrowings 15 — (45.0)
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities (13.7) 0.2

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash 3.3 (7.4)

Net (decrease) increase in cash during the period (28.2) 26.2
Cash, beginning of period 143.5 117.3
Cash, end of period 115.3 143.5

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Description of business 

Spin Master Corp., (the “Company”) was incorporated on June 9, 2004, under the laws of the Province of Ontario, 
Canada. The Company is a children’s entertainment company that creates, designs, manufactures and markets a 
diversified portfolio of innovative toys, games, products and entertainment properties. The Company is driven by a 
desire to challenge and expand traditional play patterns through the creation of innovative products, entertainment 
and digital content. The Company’s headquarters is located at 225 King Street West, Suite 200, Toronto, Canada, 
M5V 3M2.

The Company has three reportable operating segments: North America, Europe and Rest of World (see Note 25). 
The North American segment is comprised of the United States and Canada. The European segment is comprised 
of the United Kingdom, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Belgium, Luxembourg, Slovakia, 
Hungary, Romania, Czech Republic, Poland, Russia and Greece. The Rest of World segment is primarily comprised 
of Hong Kong, China, Vietnam, India, Australia and Mexico, as well as all other areas of the world serviced by the 
Company’s distribution network.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(A) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation and measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") with interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC").

All financial information is presented in millions of United States dollars ("US$") and has been rounded to the nearest 
hundred thousand, except as otherwise indicated. As a result, some prior year results may not agree to previously 
published financial statements due to rounding. The impact of these rounding adjustments do not have a material 
effect on the Company's financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on 
March 4, 2020.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is measured 
on the fair value of the consideration provided in exchange for goods and services.

(B) Application of new and revised IFRS

IFRS 16 Leases

 IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. The Company, as a lessee, has 
recognized right-of-use assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing 
its obligation to make lease payments.

 The Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method and has elected to set the right-of-use 
asset equal to the lease liability. The cumulative effect of initial application recognized in retained earnings at January 
1, 2019 is nil. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018 has not been restated and is presented as 
previously reported under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The Company has elected to not recognize right-of-use 
assets or lease liabilities for short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.  

 Previously, the Company determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under 
IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Company now determines whether a contract 
is or contains a lease based on the new definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract is or contains a lease if the 
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

 The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use 
asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation or impairment losses 
and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. The Company 
primarily uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The weighted average discount rate used was 6.1%.  
The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payments  
made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a 
change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(B) Application of new and revised IFRSs (continued)

changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a 
termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Company did not have any finance leases historically. 
All leases were recognized as operating leases. 

The Company has applied judgment to determine both the applicable discount rate as well as the lease term for certain 
lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal options. The discount rate is based on the Company's 
incremental borrowing rate and reflects the rate of interest the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term and similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value. The assessment of whether the 
Company is reasonably certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the 
amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognized. 

 On transition to IFRS 16, the Company recognized right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities of $83.4 
million on January 1, 2019. The Company has recognized depreciation expense of $13.0 million in administrative 
expenses and  accretion expense of $4.8 million in finance costs in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 Lease liabilities recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position on the date of transition: 

Reconciliation of IFRS 16 transitional impact Jan 1, 2019
Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 69.5

Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application 56.5
Adjustments for renewal options reasonably certain to be exercised 19.8
Contracts assessed as leases under IFRS 16 7.1
Lease liabilities recognized 83.4

 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments

In June 2017, the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") issued IFRIC 23 to clarify how the requirements 
of IAS 12 Income Taxes should be applied when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The interpretation 
specifically addresses:

• Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
• The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
• How an entity determines taxable profit (or loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, credits and rates; and
• How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.

The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with modified retrospective or 
retrospective application. The amendments and additions to IFRIC 23 do not have an impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements or financial results.

(C) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement accounts of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive income from the 
date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(C) Basis of preparation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

(D) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Company, liabilities incurred by the Company to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
interests issued by the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in 
profit or loss as incurred.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value 
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the 
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with 
corresponding adjustment against goodwill.  Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from 
additional information obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition 
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted 
for in accordance with the relevant policy. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity 
are not recognized.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.  Those 
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, 
if known would have affected the amounts recognized at that time.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 
consideration transferred, over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Company’s Cash-
Generating Units ("CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the combination. 

 (E) Goodwill

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an 
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit pro-rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss, and an impairment loss recognized for goodwill 
is not reversed in subsequent periods. On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributed amount of goodwill is included 
in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

(F) Revenue recognition

Sale of Goods

The majority of the Company’s revenue is derived from the sales of toys and related products to retail customers and 
distributors in select international markets. Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The Company recognizes revenue when control of the goods has transferred, which is determined by respective 
shipping terms and certain additional considerations. Invoices are generally issued at the time of delivery (which is 
when the Company has satisfied its performance obligations under the arrangement). As such, a receivable is 
recognized as the consideration is unconditional and only the passage of time is required before payment is due. The 
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2.       Significant accounting policies (continued)

(F) Revenue recognition (continued)

Company does not have performance obligations subsequent to delivery on the sale of goods to customers and 
revenues from sale of goods are recognized upon passing of control to the customer. 

The Company routinely enters into arrangements with its customers to provide sales incentives, support customer 
promotion and provides allowances for returns and defective merchandise. Such programs are based primarily on 
purchases, customer performance of specified promotional activities and other specified factors which are not 
necessarily stipulated in the customers contract.  

Revenue represents the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to  through the sale of 
goods excluding sales tax and after the application of the variable consideration constraint. Variable consideration 
includes estimates for defective products, sales allowances and returns by customers made based on certain 
judgments, contractual terms and conditions and historical data. The Company uses the expected value method to 
quantify the variable consideration. The Company monitors periodic results against historical data and makes any 
adjustments to both sales discounts and returns accruals as required. Note 3 - Significant accounting judgments and 
estimates outlines additional details on sales allowances. 

Television distribution, royalty and license sales

Television distribution sales, which are generated by the use of the Company's brands and other intellectual property 
through the production of television and streaming programming for licensing to third parties, are recognized in 
accordance with the relevant agreements. The license agreement is assessed as either providing the customer with 
a 'right-to-use' or 'right-to-access' license and the applicable revenue is recognized at a point-in-time or over time 
based on the classification determined. The license to distribute television and streaming programming grants a right 
to use the Company's brands and other intellectual property. The licensee pays a fixed fee for the license of the 
produced content. Revenue is recognized upon delivery of the television or streaming programming and is measured 
based on the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to upon delivery. There are no future 
performance obligations associated with the delivery of the programs. 

For royalty and licensing revenues that are generated by the use the Company’s brands and other intellectual property, 
the license is assessed as either providing the customer with a ‘right-to-use’ or ‘right-to-access’ license and revenue 
is recognized at a point-in-time or over time based on the classifications determined. Judgment is required in 
determining the appropriate classification. The license of the Company’s brands provide access to the intellectual 
property over the term of the license and is considered a right-to-access license of intellectual property. The Company 
records sales-based or usage-based royalty revenues for right-to-access licenses upon occurrence of the licensees’ 
subsequent sale or usage. 

Customer advances on contracts, licensing and/or television distribution, are recorded in contract liabilities until all of 
the foregoing revenue recognition conditions have been met. This does not give rise to a significant financing component 
as the timing difference between when the customer advances are recorded and the revenue recognition conditions 
being fulfilled are protective for both parties of a contract, to protect against failure of completion of some of their 
obligations under the contract. 

Digital applications ("apps")

The Company develops apps which are hosted by third-party platform providers. The Company controls all aspects 
of the apps delivered to the end user. The third party platform providers are providing the service of hosting and 
administrating receipt from the end users. The Company has determined that it is the principal in the arrangement 
and revenues are recorded in other revenue on a gross basis. The fees charged by the third-party platform providers 
are recorded within cost of sales. Revenue associated with the sale of apps are recognized when control is transferred. 
This condition is typically met when the end-user purchases and downloads the app from the third-party. The end 
users can make in-app purchases and the Company recognizes revenue at the time of sale. The Company has no 
additional performance obligations other than delivery of apps to the third-party platform providers.  

Disaggregation of revenue

The Company disaggregates its revenues from contracts with customers by segment: North America, Europe and 
Rest of World. The Company further disaggregates revenues by category: Activities, games & puzzles and plush, 
Remote control and interactive characters, Boys action and construction, Pre-school and girls and Outdoor. The 
Company believes these collectively depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
are affected by economic factors. See Note 25 Segment information for further information. 
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2.       Significant accounting policies (continued)

(G) Leases

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. The Company recognizes 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee, 
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. 
For these leases, the Company recognizes the leases as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased assets are assumed. 

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses 
its incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the Company 
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security the funds necessary to obtain an asset of 
a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date;
• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate 

the lease. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever: 

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed 
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 
the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which 
case a revised discount rate is used).

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made 
at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on 
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, 
a provision is recognized and measured under IAS 37. The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless 
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company expects 
to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

The Company applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and 
the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line administrative expenses in the consolidated statements 
of operations and comprehensive income. 
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2.       Significant accounting policies (continued)

(G) Leases (continued)

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for 
any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Company has elected to use this 
practical expedient. 

(H) Foreign currencies

The Company reports its financial results in United States Dollars ("US$"); however, the functional currency of the 
Company is the Canadian dollar.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from that of the Company, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into the Company’s functional 
currency of Canadian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense 
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during 
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, 
if any, are recognized in the foreign currency translation adjustment as part of other comprehensive income.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in currencies other than the Group 
entity’s functional currency are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the 
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. The resulting foreign currency exchange gains or losses are recognized 
in net income or loss. 

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into US$ using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and 
expense items are translated in the same manner as above with exchange differences impacting other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the functional currencies of the Groups subsidiaries included the Canadian dollar, 
the Euro, the Great Britain pound, the Hong Kong dollar, the Mexican peso, the Chinese yuan, the Vietnam dong, the 
Japan yen, the Swedish krona, the Australian dollar, the Indian rupee, Polish zloty, and the Russian ruble.

(I) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding, assuming the conversion of all dilutive securities were exercised during the 
period. Securities refer to all outstanding stock options, Restricted Share Units ("RSUs") and Performance Share Units 
("PSUs").

(J) Income taxes

Income tax expense represents the sum of the taxes currently payable and deferred taxes.

Current tax

For each entity in the Group, the tax currently payable is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs 
from “income before income tax expense” as reported on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive 
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Company’s current tax expense is calculated using income tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilized.
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2.       Significant accounting policies (continued)

(J) Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
(other than a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that does not affect either taxable income 
or net income before income taxes. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the income tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is expected to be settled or the asset realized, based on income tax rates (and income tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, reflecting the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax expense are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax expenses are also 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current deferred taxes arises from 
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.

(K) Cash

Cash is net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if applicable.

(L) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. 

Depreciation is recognized so as to depreciate the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their 
useful lives, using the straight-line method or declining balance method. Repairs and maintenance costs are recognized 
in profit or loss as incurred. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following are the estimated useful lives for the major classes of property, plant and equipment:

Land Not depreciated

Buildings 30 years

Moulds, dies and tools 2 years

Office equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements Lesser of lease term or 5 years

Computer hardware 3 years

Machinery and equipment 30% declining balance

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts 
of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(M) Intangible assets

The following are the estimated useful lives for the major classes of intangible assets:

Brands    Indefinite

Character trademarks  5 years

Customer lists   5 years

Intellectual property ("IP")                10 years

Content development  2-5 years 

Computer software   2-5 years

Intangible assets acquired separately in an asset acquisition

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible assets. The estimated 
useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, such as brands that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized 
at their fair values at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their initial cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in business combinations are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortization if applicable and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets 
that are acquired separately. 

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditures

Expenditures on research activities are recognized as incurred. An internally-generated intangible asset arising from 
development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognized only if all of the following have been 
demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• the intention to complete the intangible asset for use or sale;
• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the intangible asset; and
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from 
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated 
intangible asset can be recognized, development expenditures are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Television production assets

Television production assets are a component of intangible assets and are recorded at cost as content development.The 
Company has access to government programs, including tax credits that are designed to assist film and television 
production and distribution in Canada. The federal and provincial tax credits are not recognized until there is reasonable 
assurance that the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them and that the tax credits will be received. 
Capitalized costs net of expected federal and provincial tax credits are charged to amortization expense as completed 
episodes are delivered on a pro-rata basis over the total number of episodes for the season. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(M) Intangible assets (continued)

Contract liabilities related to television production assets arises as a result of consideration received in advance of 
the Company fulfilling its obligations. 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation 
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, otherwise, they are allocated to the smallest 
group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. Intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives or that are not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss equal to the difference between the 
carrying and recorded amounts is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, provided that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

(N) Advances on royalties

The Company enters into license agreements with inventors and licensors for the use of their intellectual properties 
in its products. These agreements may call for payment in advance or future payment of minimum guaranteed amounts. 
Amounts paid in advance are initially recorded as an asset and subsequently expensed to net income or loss as 
revenue from the related products is recognized. If all or a portion of an advance does not appear to be recoverable 
through future use of the rights obtained under license, the non-recoverable portion is expensed immediately in profit 
or loss.

(O) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a standard cost basis, and 
includes the purchase price and other costs, such as import duties, taxes and transportation costs. Trade discounts 
and rebates are deducted from the purchase price. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for 
inventories in the ordinary course of business, less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make 
the sale. Reserves for excess and obsolete inventory are based upon quantities on hand, projected volumes from 
demand forecast and net realizable value.  The impact of changes in inventory reserves is reflected in cost of sales.

(P) Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
amount expected to be required to settle the obligation and are re-measured each reporting date. 

Future royalty obligations

Where the Company is committed to pay royalties on sales of acquired brands, the future royalty obligation is based 
on the Company’s estimate of the related brands future sales, discounted for the timing of expected payments.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(P) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Provision for defectives

Defectives refer to when the end consumer returns defective goods to the Company’s customers. Customers without 
a fixed allowance for defectives are eligible for a credit for the cost of the product if returned as defective by the end 
consumer. The estimate of defectives is made based on the class and nature of the product and is recorded as a 
reduction to revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Supplier obligations

Supplier obligations represent the estimated compensation to be paid to suppliers for lower than expected volumes 
purchased, resulting in the supplier having excess raw material and finished goods inventories. While payments are 
not contractually required, the Company regularly compensates suppliers to maintain supplier relationships, which 
represents a constructive obligation due to past practices. The supplier obligation is based on an estimate of the cost 
of the supplier’s excess raw material and finished goods inventory. 

Share-based payments

As part of the Company’s Initial Public Offering (the “Initial Offering”), employees were granted subordinate voting 
shares through equity participation arrangements. The Initial Offering price multiplied by the number of shares that 
an employee was entitled to receive is recognized as an expense in administrative expenses, with a corresponding 
increase in contributed surplus over the vesting period, at the end of which, the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to the shares. The amount expensed is adjusted for forfeitures as required.

The Company has one share option plan for key employees, which forms part of their long-term incentive compensation 
plan. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company’s share on the date 
of grant and the options have a maximum term of ten years. Options vest between zero and four years.

The Company has an equity based compensation plan providing for the issuance of securities from treasury under 
which the grants will be made by the Company. Under the long-term incentive plan ("LTIP"), the Board may at its 
discretion from time to time, grant share options, share units (in the form of RSUs and PSUs), Stock Appreciation 
Rights ("SARs"), restricted stock and any other equity based awards. 

Pursuant to the LTIP plans, the awards may be settled in cash or shares at the option of the Company. Prior to August 
1, 2018, the Company settled LTIP awards in cash, resulting in their recognition as liabilities, which were marked to 
market each period.  Effective August 1, 2018, settlements of existing and new LTIP awards occur through the issuance 
of equity shares. As a result, effective August 1, 2018, the LTIP liabilities were reclassified to shareholders equity and 
are no longer marked to market.

(Q) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the respective instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss) are included in the initial carrying value of the related instrument and are amortized 
using the effective interest method. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Fair value estimates are made at the consolidated statement of financial position date based on relevant market 
information and information about the financial instrument. All financial instruments are classified into either: fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or amortized cost.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(Q) Financial instruments (continued)

The Company has made the following classifications:

Cash Amortized cost

Trade and other receivables Amortized cost

Other long-term assets Amortized cost

Trade payables and other liabilities Amortized cost

Borrowings Amortized cost

Interest payable Amortized cost

Other long-term liabilities Amortized cost

Foreign exchange forward contracts FVTPL

(R) Financial assets 

The classification of financial assets depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at 
the time of initial recognition. 

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as FVTPL. 
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Company manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at amortized cost are non-derivative financial assets which are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. A financial asset 
(unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially measured at the transaction 
price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to its acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those classified as FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of 
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of 
the investment have been decreased. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are offset against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount 
of the allowance account are recognized in profit or loss. Loss allowances are based on the lifetime ECLs that result 
from all possible default events over the expected life of the trade receivable, using the simplified approach.  

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment 
not been recognized. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(S) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized as the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including loans and borrowings and trade payables and other liabilities) are initially measured 
at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequently, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

(T) Derivative financial instruments

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks. 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or 
loss.

(U) Fair value hierarchy and liquidity risk disclosure

Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs used in 
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

• Level 1 - valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
• Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).

The fair value of short-term financial instruments approximates their carrying amounts due to the relatively short period 
to maturity. These include cash, trade and other receivables, as well as trade payables and other liabilities and 
provisions. Fair value amounts represent point-in-time estimates and may not reflect fair value in the future.

(V) Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

 The IASB published amendments to IFRS 3 "Business Combinations". The amendment clarifies the definition of a 
business and outputs. The amendment also adds guidance that determines if substantive processes have been 
acquired or if an acquired set of activities and assets is a business. The amendments are effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2020. The Company will apply these amendments and additions to IFRS 3 to applicable 
future acquisitions.
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3.        Significant accounting judgments and estimates 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. As 
these estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant, actual results may differ. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Adjustments are recognized in the period in which the estimate is modified if the change affects only that period, or 
in the period the estimate is modified and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The Company has identified the following judgments, apart from estimates, which management has made in the 
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, and which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

          (A) Determination of CGUs

A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Determining the impact of impairment requires significant 
judgment in identifying which assets or groups of assets are CGUs of the Company.

(B) Functional currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates as of the dates the transactions occur. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.

Determining the appropriate functional currencies for entities in the Group requires analysis of various factors, including 
the currencies and country-specific factors that mainly influence sales prices, and the currencies that mainly influence 
labour, materials and other costs of providing goods or services.

Significant estimates and assumptions

The Company has identified the following accounting policies under which significant judgments, estimates and 
assumptions are made, where actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and 
conditions, and which may materially affect the Company's financial results or financial position in future periods.

(A) Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives

The Company employs significant estimates to determine useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives, considering industry trends such as technological advancements, past experience, 
expected use and review of asset lives.

Components of an item of property, plant and equipment may have different useful lives. The Company makes estimates 
when determining depreciation methods, depreciation rates and useful lives, which require taking into account industry 
trends and company-specific factors. The Company reviews depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
annually or when circumstances change and adjusts, if necessary, its depreciation methods and assumptions 
prospectively.

(B) Impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are assessed for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an 
indication of impairment. The Company determines the fair value of its CGU groupings and indefinite life intangible 
assets using discounted cash flow models corroborated by other valuation techniques. 

The process of determining these fair values requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions of a long 
term nature regarding discount rates, projected revenues, royalty rates and margins derived from past experience, 
actual operating results and budgets. These estimates and assumptions may change in the future due to uncertain 
competitive and economic market conditions or changes in business strategies.

(C) Provision for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realizable value. The Company estimates net realizable 
value as the amount at which inventories are expected to be sold, taking into consideration fluctuations in retail prices 
due to seasonality less estimated costs required to sell. Inventories are written down to net realizable value when the 
cost of inventories is estimated to be unrecoverable due to obsolescence, damage or declining selling prices.
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3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)

(D) Sales allowances

A sales allowance is established to reflect allowances requested by customers relating to contractual discounts, 
negotiated discounts, customer audits, defective products and costs incurred by customers to sell the Company’s 
products. Certain allowances are fixed and determinable at the time of sale and are recorded at the time of sale as a 
reduction to revenue. Other allowances can vary depending on future outcomes such as customer sales volume. The 
allowance is based on the Company’s evaluation of the likelihood of the outcome of sales allowance claims. The 
Company considers various factors including customer terms, historical experience, any expected deviations from 
historical experience and existing or expected market conditions. The Company adjusts its' estimate at least quarterly, 
or when facts and circumstances used in the estimation process may change. 

(E) Income and other taxes

The calculation of current and deferred income taxes requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions and 
to exercise judgment regarding the carrying values of assets and liabilities which are subject to accounting estimates 
inherent in those balances, the interpretation of income tax legislation across various jurisdictions, expectations about 
future operating results, the timing of reversal of temporary differences and possible audits of income tax filings by 
tax authorities.

Changes or differences in underlying estimates or assumptions may result in changes to the current or deferred income 
tax balances on the consolidated statements of financial position, a charge or credit to income tax expense in the 
consolidated statement of earnings and may result in cash payments or receipts. All income, capital and commodity 
tax filings are subject to audits and reassessments. Changes in interpretations or judgments may result
in a change in the Company’s income, capital or commodity tax provisions in the future. The amount of such a change 
cannot be reliably estimated.

4.        Revenue 

The Company earns revenue from the following primary sources:

• Sales of toys and related products; and
• Royalties and licensing fees earned for the use of intellectual property, application revenues and the distribution 

of television programs (“Other revenue”)

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Revenue from sale of goods 1,463.7 1,509.6
Other revenue 117.9 121.9
Revenue 1,581.6 1,631.5

5. Other expenses (income) 

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Impairment of non-current assets 5.6 1.1
Other 1.0 (15.8)
Other expenses (income) 6.6 (14.7)

The Company was successful in a lawsuit as the plaintiff and agreed to a settlement of $15.5 million included in other 
expenses (income) in the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended December 
31, 2018.
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6.       Finance costs 

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Bank fees 5.9 5.9
Accretion expense - lease liabilities 4.8 —
Accretion expense - other 1.7 2.3
Amortization of financing costs 0.9 0.9
Interest (income) expense (1.6) 0.3
Finance costs 11.7 9.4

7.       Expenses 

Included within expenses are the following: selling, marketing, distribution and product development expenses, 
administrative expenses, including employee benefit expenses, property and operations and professional fees. 

Selling, marketing, distribution and product development expenses

  

(US$ millions) 2019 2018

Selling 112.0 89.0
Marketing 155.0 154.2

Distribution 98.1 61.2

Product development 30.3 27.5

Selling, marketing, distribution and product development expenses 395.4 331.9

Administrative expenses

  

(US$ millions) Note 2019 2018

Employee compensation and benefits 172.1 179.9

Property and operations 27.6 34.9

Professional services 22.8 24.4

Technology 12.2 11.2

Recruiting and training 6.9 7.3

Restructuring 2.7 —

Other 3.6 20.7

Administrative expenses 247.9 278.4

Employee compensation and benefits 

    

(US$ millions) 2019 2018

Salaries, wages and bonuses 5.6 4.1

Employee benefits 0.9 0.9

Employee compensation and benefits expenses in cost of sales 6.5 5.0
Salaries, wages and bonuses 130.5 133.9

Share-based compensation 15.2 12.2

Restructuring 6.1 7.2

Employee benefits 20.3 26.5

Employee compensation and benefits in administrative expenses 172.1 179.9

Employee compensation and benefits 178.6 184.9
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7.       Expenses (continued)

Depreciation and amortization expense

   

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Property, plant and equipment
Moulds, dies and tools, included in cost of sales 20.9 20.5
Equipment 3.4 2.0
Land and leasehold improvements 5.8 3.5
Computer hardware 1.4 1.0

31.5 27.0
Intangible assets
Trademarks, licenses, IP & customer lists - definite 6.8 6.3
Content development, included in cost of sales 31.1 38.9
Computer software 2.2 2.0

40.1 47.2

Right-of-use assets 13.0 —

Depreciation and amortization expense 84.6 74.2

 

8.       Income tax 

The income tax expense recognized in the statement of earnings and comprehensive income comprise of the following:

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Current income tax expense 22.9 45.3
Deferred income tax (recovery) expense (2.2) 8.2
Income tax expense 20.7 53.5

The income tax expense is calculated as follows:

(US$ millions) 2019 2018

Income before income tax expense 85.0 208.4

Income tax expense at Canadian statutory tax rate of 26.5% (2018 - 26.5%) 22.5 55.2
Effect of:

Expenses not deductible in determining taxable income 0.5 0.9
Unused tax losses and tax attributes not recognized as deferred tax assets 1.5 0.8
Previously unrecognized and unused tax losses and other deferred tax assets differences now
recognized (0.4) (0.7)
Different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (4.2) (4.1)
Other 0.8 1.4

Income tax expense 20.7 53.5

The tax rates used for the reconciliations above are the Canadian statutory tax rates of the parent payable by corporate 
entities in the Group, on taxable profits under tax laws in the respective jurisdictions in which the Company operates. 

Current tax assets and liabilities

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had an income tax payable of $4.5 million (2018 - $6.5 million). 
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8.      Income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax balances

The following is the analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities presented in the consolidated statements of 
financial position:

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Deferred income tax assets 26.2 21.0
Deferred income tax liabilities (20.4) (15.5)
Net deferred income tax assets 5.8 5.5

        The sources of deferred income tax balances are as follows:

(US$ millions) 2017

Recognized 
in

net income

Foreign
currency

translation 2018
Property, plant and equipment 0.6 (2.2) — (1.6)
Intangible assets (4.5) (3.4) — (7.9)
Provisions and contingent liabilities 8.2 1.4 — 9.6
Allowance for doubtful accounts 0.4 (0.1) (0.1) 0.2

4.7 (4.3) (0.1) 0.3
Benefits of tax loss carryforwards 7.4 (0.9) (0.1) 6.4
Other temporary differences in basis 1.8 (3.0) — (1.2)
Net deferred tax assets 13.9 (8.2) (0.2) 5.5

(US$ millions) 2018

Recognized 
in

net income

Foreign
currency

translation

Recognized
on business
combination 2019

Property, plant and equipment (1.6) 3.2 — — 1.6
Intangible assets (7.9) (1.5) — (1.7) (11.1)
Provisions and contingent liabilities 9.6 1.8 (0.1) — 11.3
Allowance for doubtful accounts 0.2 — — — 0.2

0.3 3.5 (0.1) (1.7) 2.0
Benefits of tax loss carryforwards 6.4 0.4 (0.1) — 6.7
Other temporary differences in basis (1.2) (1.7) — — (2.9)
Net deferred tax assets 5.5 2.2 (0.2) (1.7) 5.8

Unused tax losses

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had unused tax losses of $5.7 million (2018 - $2.9 million). Unused tax losses of 
$0.3 million will expire between 2020 and 2029, $2.0 million will expire beyond 2029 and $3.4 million may be carried forward 
indefinitely. There were no unrecognized deductible temporary differences for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - 
nil). 

Unrecognized taxable temporary differences associated with investments

         The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which deferred tax                                                                                                                                                   
         liabilities were not recognized as at December 31, 2019, are $236.2 million (2018 - $203.1 million).
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9.       Trade and other receivables

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Trade receivables
Trade receivables 546.2 404.0
Provisions for sales allowances (174.9) (135.0)
Allowance for doubtful accounts (0.6) (2.2)

370.7 266.8
Other receivables
Investment tax credits receivable 24.2 39.1
Sales tax receivables 12.0 7.5
Royalty receivables 14.2 15.5
Other 6.6 6.7

57.0 68.8
Net trade and other receivables 427.7 335.6

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts that are past due as at the end of the reporting period for which 
the Company has not recognized an allowance because there has not been a significant change in credit quality and 
the amounts are still considered recoverable. 

Trade receivables past due but not impaired

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
60-90 days 9.6 5.4
91-120 days 2.3 2.2
> 120 days 4.8 9.4
Total trade receivables past due but not impaired 16.7 17.0

Movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Beginning of year 2.2 2.8
Impairment losses recognized on receivables 9.9 20.4
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (0.8) (21.0)
Impairment losses reversed (10.7) (0.2)
Foreign currency translation — 0.2
End of year 0.6 2.2

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Company considers any change in the credit quality of the 
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized a bad debt recovery of $0.9 million (2018 - net 
bad debt expense of $12.1 million) in administrative expenses (other), related to the legal motion filed by Toys R Us 
Inc. on March 15, 2018, to wind down and liquidate certain of Toys R Us Inc.'s global businesses. 
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10. Inventories 

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Raw materials 14.2 11.0
Finished goods 171.1 99.1
Inventories 185.3 110.1

The cost of inventories recognized as an expense in cost of sales during the year was $686.9 million (2018 - $711.7 
million). 

During 2019, $9.0 million of inventories were written down to net realizable value (2018 - $1.9 million). This charge is 
included within cost of sales in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income. 

11.      Property, plant and equipment

(US$ millions)
Moulds, dies 

and tools Equipment

Land and 
leasehold 

improvements
Computer 
hardware Total

Cost
December 31, 2017 112.3 18.1 12.9 9.8 153.1
Additions 20.9 7.0 22.8 2.8 53.5
Asset retirements (15.4) — — — (15.4)
Asset impairments (1.1) — — — (1.1)
Foreign currency translation (2.7) (0.7) (1.9) (1.3) (6.6)

December 31, 2018 114.0 24.4 33.8 11.3 183.5
Additions 24.7 7.6 5.6 3.0 40.9
Asset retirements (8.7) (2.3) (1.9) (0.2) (13.1)
Foreign currency translation (1.1) — 1.6 0.1 0.6

December 31, 2019 128.9 29.7 39.1 14.2 211.9

Accumulated depreciation
December 31, 2017 (90.8) (13.2) (7.8) (8.2) (120.0)
Depreciation (20.5) (2.0) (3.5) (1.0) (27.0)
Asset retirements 15.4 — — — 15.4
Foreign currency translation 2.4 — 0.9 0.8 4.1

December 31, 2018 (93.5) (15.2) (10.4) (8.4) (127.5)
Depreciation (20.9) (3.4) (5.8) (1.4) (31.5)
Asset retirements 8.7 2.3 1.9 0.2 13.1
Foreign currency translation 1.4 (0.1) (0.5) — 0.8

December 31, 2019 (104.3) (16.4) (14.8) (9.6) (145.1)

Net carrying amount
December 31, 2018 20.5 9.2 23.4 2.9 56.0
December 31, 2019 24.6 13.3 24.3 4.6 66.8

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded no impairment losses (2018 - $1.1 million in 6 CGUs). 
Impairment losses are recorded where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount was based on the asset's value in use.
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12. Intangible assets 

(US$ millions) Note
Brands -

indefinite

Trademarks,
licenses, IP
& customer

lists -
definite

Content
development

Computer
software Total

Cost
December 31, 2017 83.0 36.0 94.7 18.1 231.8

  Additions — — 25.5 3.5 29.0
  Assets acquired through business    
  combinations 33.9 9.5 — — 43.4
  Foreign currency translation (3.5) 0.4 (7.0) (1.9) (12.0)
December 31, 2018 113.4 45.9 113.2 19.7 292.2
  Additions — — 48.1 5.2 53.3
  Asset impairments (5.6) — — — (5.6)
  Assets acquired through business    
  combinations 23 6.5 5.5 — — 12.0
  Foreign currency translation 1.4 0.3 3.2 1.0 5.9
December 31, 2019 115.7 51.7 164.5 25.9 357.8

Accumulated amortization
December 31, 2017 — (5.8) (63.9) (16.9) (86.6)

  Amortization — (6.3) (38.9) (2.0) (47.2)
  Foreign currency translation — 0.2 5.5 1.7 7.4
December 31, 2018 — (11.9) (97.3) (17.2) (126.4)
  Amortization — (6.8) (31.1) (2.2) (40.1)
  Foreign currency translation — 0.2 (8.3) (0.8) (8.9)
December 31, 2019 — (18.5) (136.7) (20.2) (175.4)

Net carrying amount
December 31, 2018 113.4 34.0 15.9 2.5 165.8
December 31, 2019 115.7 33.2 27.8 5.7 182.4

Cash flow projections during the forecast period are based on the same expected gross margins and raw materials 
price inflation throughout the forecast period. The cash flows beyond the five-year period have been extrapolated 
using a steady 1.0% (2018: 1.0%) per annum growth rate which is the projected long-term average growth rate. 
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount 
is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGUs. 

The recoverable amount of the CGUs are determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash flow 
projections based on financial forecasts approved by management covering a five-year period and a pre-tax discount 
rate of 8.9% per annum (2018: 10.8% per annum). 
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12. Intangible assets (continued)

The carrying amount of indefinite life intangible assets, comprised of brands, was allocated to CGUs as follows:

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Gund 33.9 33.9
Games and Puzzles 31.6 24.3
Swimways 27.8 27.8
Toca Boca 13.0 13.0
Etch A Sketch 7.2 7.0
Meccano 2.2 2.2
Spy Gear — 5.2
Total 115.7 113.4

Impairment losses

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded impairment losses of $5.6 million (2018 - nil) in respect 
of the Spy Gear CGU (2018 - nil). Impairment losses are recorded where the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount was based on the CGU's value in use.

13. Goodwill 

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Balance, beginning of year 124.2 105.5
Additions during the year 13.6 19.6
Foreign currency translation 1.0 (0.9)
Balance, end of year 138.8 124.2

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to these CGUs as follows:

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Games and Puzzles 48.2 43.7
Swimways 42.1 42.1
Gund 20.3 19.6
Toca Boca 11.5 11.5
Orbeez 9.0 —
Etch A Sketch 4.1 3.8
Meccano 2.2 2.1
Tech Deck 1.2 1.2
Spin Master UK 0.2 0.2
Goodwill 138.8 124.2

The recoverable amount of the CGUs for goodwill have been determined on the same basis and assumptions as the 
indefinite lived intangible assets (see Note 12). There have been no impairment losses recognized with respect to 
goodwill during 2019 (2018 - nil).
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14. Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Trade payables 215.8 160.6
Accrued liabilities 129.8 116.2
Trade payables and accrued liabilities 345.6 276.8

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company executed the restructuring of the Gund, Swimways, Cardinal 
and other business units. Included within accrued liabilities is a restructuring provision of $2.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 (December 31, 2018 - $3.4 million). 

Accrued liabilities are comprised of payroll related liabilities, accrued royalties, commodity tax and other balances.

Contract liabilities are comprised of advances on contracts relating to licensing and television distribution, which 
arise as a result of consideration received in advance of the Company fulfilling its obligations. As at December  31, 
2019, the Company had contract liabilities of $7.6 million (2018 - $7.0 million).

15. Loans and borrowings 

Secured Debt

Bank Facilities

(i) On July 10, 2018, the Company reduced the limit of the Credit Facility (the "Production Facility") to $15.4 million ($20.0 
million CAD) to better align with the Company's borrowing needs under the facility. The interest rate on amounts drawn 
under the Production Facility bear interest at a variable rate referenced to the lending institution’s Canadian dollar 
prime rate.  

On December 2, 2019, the Company reduced the limit on its Production Facility to $7.7 million ($10.0 million CAD) to 
better aligns with the Company's borrowing needs under the facility. As at December 31, 2019, the balance of the 
Production facility was nil.

(ii) The Company has a secured revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) with the amount of $510.0 million, which matures 
in July 2023. Advances under the Facility may be used for general corporate purposes including refinancing existing 
indebtedness, funding working capital requirements, permitted acquisitions and permitted distributions. The Facility 
also has an option which permits the Company to increase the total capital available by an additional $200.0 million. 

Available borrowing options under the Facility include:
• Prime Rate Loans;
• Base Rate Loans;
• Bankers’ Acceptances from BA Lenders with a maturity of thirty, sixty, ninety or one hundred and eighty days, 

subject to availability;
• BA Equivalent Loans from the Non-BA Lenders with a maturity of thirty, sixty, ninety or one hundred and eighty 

days, subject to availability; 
• LIBOR Loans with an interest period of one, two, three or six months, subject to availability;
• Swing Loans; or
• Letters of Credit 
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15. Loans and borrowings (continued)

The obligation under the Facility is secured by a general security and pledge agreement in respect of all present 
and future personal property, assets and undertaking of the credit parties. This facility is subject to the maintenance 
of the following financial covenants:

• Total leverage ratio, defined as the ratio of (a) total debt at such time, to (b) EBITDA for the applicable twelve-
month period, is calculated on a quarterly basis, of 3.00 to 1.00 or less, provided that, in the event the borrower 
used proceeds of a borrowing to complete a single permitted acquisition with aggregate consideration greater 
than $100.0 million during any two consecutive fiscal quarters falling within the twelve-month reporting period 
immediately following such permitted acquisition, the borrower must only maintain the total leverage ratio 
3.50 to 1.00 or less; and

• Interest coverage ratio, calculated on a consolidated, rolling four quarter basis, at 3.00:1.00 or greater.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. 

As at December 31, 2019, the Company had utilized $0.7 million (December 31, 2018 - $0.4 million) of the Facility: 
nil (December 31, 2018 - nil) drawn in LIBOR Loans and $0.7 million (December 31, 2018 - $0.4 million) drawn in 
letters of credit.

 Unsecured Debt

Bank Overdraft Facility

(iii) On December 19, 2018, the Company entered into an uncommitted Overdraft Facility Agreement (the "European 
Facility") for $16.8 million (€15.0 million). The European Facility will be used to fund working capital requirements in 
Europe. As at December 31, 2019, the outstanding balance was nil (December 31, 2018 - nil).

16. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Defectives (i) 13.8 9.8
Supplier liabilities (ii) 4.9 6.2
Contingent consideration, acquisitions (iii) 16.5 14.9
Provisions and contingent liabilities 35.2 30.9

Current 26.2 29.2
Non-current 9.0 1.7
Provisions and contingent liabilities 35.2 30.9

Supplier
liabilities (ii)

Contingent
consideration,

acquisitions (iii)Defectives (i) Total
December 31, 2017 9.0 5.8 16.4 31.2
  Provisions recognized 15.1 1.4 0.7 17.2
  Accretion recognized — — 2.3 2.3
  Reductions arising from payments (14.3) (1.0) (4.3) (19.6)
  Revaluation of provisions — — (0.2) (0.2)
December 31, 2018 9.8 6.2 14.9 30.9

  Provisions recognized 15.8 0.5 2.1 18.4
  Accretion recognized — — 1.7 1.7
  Reductions arising from payments (11.8) (1.8) (4.4) (18.0)
  Revaluation of provisions — — 2.2 2.2
December 31, 2019 13.8 4.9 16.5 35.2
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16. Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Provisions 

(i) Defectives refer to when the end consumer returns faulty goods to the Company’s customers. Customers 
without a fixed allowance for defectives are eligible for a credit for the cost of the product if returned as 
defective by the end consumer. The estimate of defectives is made based on the class and nature or the 
product and reduces the net sales figure on the statements of operations and comprehensive income.

(ii) Supplier liabilities represent the estimated compensation to be paid to suppliers for lower than expected 
volumes purchased, resulting in the supplier having excess raw material and finished goods inventory. While 
payments are not legally required, the Company will regularly compensate suppliers to maintain supplier 
relationships. The supplier obligation is based on the Company’s estimate of the cost of the supplier’s 
excess raw material and finished goods inventory. The provision for supplier obligations is recorded in Cost 
of Sales on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

(iii) Business combinations as described in Note 23 include a royalty payable over the next five calendar years. 
The fair value of the total contingent consideration on December 31, 2019 was $16.5 million (2018 - $14.9 
million) and is based on the achievement of certain financial performance criteria. The accretion of the 
royalty is recorded in other expense (income) in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income.

The Company is involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to the ordinary course of its business. The 
Company believes that the outcome of all pending legal proceedings in the aggregate is not probable to have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and/or its results of operations. However, in light of the 
uncertainties involved in legal proceedings generally, the ultimate outcome of a particular matter could be material to 
the Company’s operating results for a particular period depending on, among other things, the size of the loss or the 
nature of the liability imposed and the level of the Company’s income for that particular period.

17. Share capital 

(a) Authorized as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 

 Unlimited number of multiple voting shares;

 Unlimited number of subordinate voting shares; and 

 Unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series.

2019 2018
Shares

(millions)
Amount

(US$ millions)
Shares

(millions)
Amount

(US$ millions)

Multiple voting shares:
Balance, beginning of year 70.7 360.8 73.5 375.1
Conversion to subordinate voting shares (0.1) (0.3) — —
Issuance under secondary offering — — (2.8) (14.3)
Balance, end of year 70.6 360.5 70.7 360.8

Subordinate voting shares:
Balance, beginning of year 31.1 333.3 28.2 306.2
Issuance of common shares 0.4 20.4 0.1 12.8
Conversion from multiple voting shares 0.1 0.3 — —
Issuance under secondary offering — — 2.8 14.3
Balance, end of year 31.6 354.0 31.1 333.3
Common shares issued and outstanding, end of year 102.2 714.5 101.8 694.1
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17. Share capital (continued)

On August 15, 2018, the three founders of the Company converted an aggregate of 2.8 million multiple voting shares 
into an equal number of subordinate voting shares of the Company and closed an offering of such subordinate voting 
shares at a price of $41.98 per share. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of subordinate voting 
shares associated with this offering.

(b) Share-based plans

Participation arrangements

The Company had equity participation arrangements (“Participation Arrangements”) with nine senior employees and 
one former employee pursuant to which they were entitled to receive a cash payment and shares on the Initial Public 
Offering (the "Initial Offering") of the Company. The Participation Arrangements served to reward past service and 
encourage retention. The terms of the Participation Arrangements differ between participants with vested participants 
being entitled to some or all of their shares between six months and six years following the Initial Offering.

The Company satisfied the participants’ entitlements by making a one-time cash payment to participants and by issuing 
an aggregate of 4,790,178 subordinate voting shares immediately prior to the closing of the Initial Offering. The 
compensation expense for the Participation Arrangements is calculated based on the fair value of each participation 
arrangement, as determined by the value of the Company at the closing of the Initial Offering, less the value of the 
cash settlement. The Company recognizes compensation expense over the vesting period of the Participation 
Arrangements, which is between six months and six years.

As at December 31, 2019, 1,068,258 (December 31, 2018  - 1,683,370) subordinate voting shares were outstanding 
relating to the Participation Arrangements with a weighted average grant date fair value of $14.9 million (December 
31, 2018 - $23.5 million) based on the weighted average of the contractual life remaining of 12 months. 

Share based compensation expense of $3.3 million (2018 - $5.6 million) relating to Participation Arrangements is 
recorded in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income for the 
year ended December 31, 2019. 

Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP")

The Company has an equity based compensation plan providing for the issuance of securities from treasury under 
which the grants will be made by the Company. Under the LTIP, the Board may at its discretion from time to time, grant 
share options, share units (in the form of RSUs and PSUs), Stock Appreciation Rights ("SARs"), restricted stock and 
any other equity based awards. 

The Company settled vested LTIP grants during the year ended December 31, 2019 through the issuance of shares. 
The settlements resulted in a transfer of $11.8 million from contributed surplus to share capital.

RSUs and PSUs

Below is a summary of the activity related to RSUs and PSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 
2018.

(number of units) 2019 2018

Outstanding, beginning of year 708,090 807,217

Granted 460,559 315,511

Exercised (413,088) (371,325)

Forfeited (41,653) (43,313)

Outstanding, end of year 713,908 708,090

Included in the above table are grants of 453,246 PSUs to certain key employees during the year ended  December 31, 
2019 (December 31, 2018 - 229,588). 
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17. Share capital (continued)

Share based compensation expense of $10.1 million (2018 - $11.3 million) relating to RSUs and PSUs is recorded in 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 with corresponding entries recorded in contributed surplus. In the prior year, corresponding entries 
of $4.9 million and $6.4 million were recorded in contributed surplus and in accrued liabilities, respectively.  Prior to 
August 1, 2018, the Company settled LTIP awards in cash, resulting in their recognition as liabilities, which were 
marked to market each period. Effective August 1, 2018, settlements of LTIP awards occur through the issuance of 
shares. As a result, the LTIP liabilities were reclassified to shareholders equity and are no longer marked to market.

Deferred Share Units ("DSUs")

Below is a summary of the activity related to DSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

(number of units) 2019 2018

Outstanding, beginning of year 60,393 67,644

Granted 17,918 11,098

Exercised — (18,349)

Outstanding, end of year 78,311 60,393

Share based compensation expense, (net of mark to market adjustment) was $0.6 million (2018 - $(0.3) million) relating 
to DSUs is recorded in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive 
income for the year ended December 31, 2019. A corresponding amount was recorded in accrued liabilities.

Share Purchase Options (“Options”)

The Company has one share option plan for key employees, which forms part of their LTIP. Under the plan, the exercise 
price of each option equals the market price of the Company’s share on the date of grant and the Options have a 
maximum term of ten years. The Options vest ratably over four years.

The following is a summary of the activity of the outstanding Options:

Number of
Options

Weighted average 
exercise price (CAD)

Outstanding, beginning of year 685,741 $33.70
Granted 158,544 $37.96

Exercised (7,689) $22.94

Outstanding, end of year 836,596 $34.60

The weighted average fair value of the Options granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 
estimated at the grant date based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions:

2019 2018
Share price (in Canadian dollars) $37.96 $51.97
Exercise price (in Canadian dollars) $37.96 $51.97
Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 2.1%
Expected option life (in years) 6.25 6.25
Expected volatility 31.9% 31.7%
Dividend yield — —
Black-Scholes fair value 35.0% 35.0%
Weighted average fair value per option granted at grant date (in Canadian dollars) $13.29 $18.19



Spin Master Corp.
Consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018

31

17. Share capital (continued)

Share based compensation expense of $1.8 million (2018 - $1.7 million) relating to Options is recorded in administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 
2019. 

The total expense recognized for employee services received during the period for equity-settled transactions is shown 
in the following table: 

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Equity-settled RSUs and PSUs 10.1 4.9
Equity-settled Participation Arrangements transactions 3.3 5.6
Share purchase options 1.8 1.7
Total share based compensation expense 15.2 12.2

Share based compensation expense of $15.2 million (2018 - $12.2 million) is recorded in administrative expenses in 
the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2019. A 
corresponding amount was recorded in contributed surplus.

18.  Earnings per share 

2019 2018
Weighted average 
number of shares Per share amount ($)

Weighted average 
number of shares Per share amount ($)

Basic 102.1 0.63 101.7 1.52
Diluted 102.9 0.62 102.3 1.51

The Participation Arrangements issued to employees upon the Initial Offering as subordinate voting shares resulted 
in the issuance of fewer multiple voting shares to the principal shareholders. As these share issuances are anti-dilutive, 
they are not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share. Effective August 1, 2018, all LTIP related awards 
are included in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

19.      Changes in net working capital 

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
(Increase) decrease in:
  Trade and other receivables (57.1) (121.2)
  Inventories (74.0) 15.0
  Prepaid expenses 0.9 (12.6)
  Advances on royalties 8.0 (7.4)

(122.2) (126.2)
Increase (decrease) in:
  Trade payables and accrued liabilities 35.7 91.1
  Contract liabilities 0.6 (3.5)
  Provisions and contingent liabilities (3.1) 2.6
  Other 9.1 16.9

42.3 107.1
Total changes in net working capital (79.9) (19.1)
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20. Related party transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company engaged the services of a law firm whose managing partner 
is also a member of the Company's Board of Directors. For the year ended December 31, 2019, related party 
transactions included in the consolidated statements of the Company were $0.5 million (December 31, 2018 - $0.8 
million). 

Compensation of key management personnel

The compensation of directors and other key management personnel during the year was as follows:

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Salaries, wages and bonuses 5.4 6.2
Share-based compensation 6.6 4.8
Employee benefits 0.2 0.3
Total compensation of key management personnel 12.2 11.3

 21. Leases

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet

On January 1, 2019, the Company recognized right-of-use assets in the amount of $83.4 million and lease liabilities 
in the amount of $83.4 million. Leased buildings represented approximately 88.0% of the right-of-use assets with the 
remainder comprised of leases of distribution centres, information technology ("IT") equipment, and vehicles. 

Right-of-use Assets Lease Liabilities
Transition, January 1, 2019 83.4 83.4
Additions 9.8 9.8
Disposals and modifications (1.5) (1.5)
Depreciation and amortization (13.0) —
Other (0.4) —
Accretion — 4.8
Lease payments — (13.8)
December 31, 2019 78.3 82.7
Lease Liabilities, current 15.1
Lease Liabilities, non-current 67.6

The Company leases several assets including buildings, distribution centres, IT equipment, and vehicles. The average 
lease term is 11 years. The carrying value of right-of-use assets and depreciation by class of underlying assets at 
December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Building Equipment Total
Net carrying amount 75.4 2.9 78.3
Depreciation expense 12.0 1.0 13.0

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases across the Company. 
These terms are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension 
and termination options are exercisable only by the Company and not by the respective lessor. 
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 21. Leases (continued)

Amounts recognized in the statement of earnings and comprehensive income

2019
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 13.0
Accretion expense on lease liabilities 4.8
Expense relating to short-term leases 0.6
Expense relating to leases of low value assets 1.1
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in measurement of lease liability 3.4
Total 22.9

22.     Commitments for expenditures 

Licensing and similar agreements in effect at December 31, 2019 contain provisions for future minimum payments of 
$32.7 million (2018 - $23.4 million).

Less than 1 year to greater than 5 years

<1 Year 1-5 Years > 5 Years Total
Lease liabilities - undiscounted 15.7 45.0 54.6 115.3
Guaranteed payments due to licensors 8.3 18.4 6.0 32.7
Total commitments 24.0 63.4 60.6 148.0

23.     Business combinations 

Acquisition of Orbeez 

On December 4, 2019, the Company acquired the rights to the Orbeez brand, pursuant to an asset purchase agreement 
with The Maya Group. The acquisition secures the Company the global intellectual property and the ability to sell, 
market and license for further penetration into existing markets as well as expansion into new territories. The acquisition 
also allows Spin Master to incorporate Orbeez products into new and existing product lines.

Pursuant to the terms set forth in the agreement, the Company acquired control of the Orbeez intellectual property 
through the acquisition of certain assets of The Maya Group for total purchase consideration of $15.2 million.

Included in the total purchase consideration of $15.2 million is $2.1 million related to the estimated fair value of future 
royalties. The total purchase consideration has been allocated to the identifiable intangible assets based on their 
estimated fair values of $5.5 million (related to the brands and trademarks), and $9.0 million of goodwill. The assets 
are included in the Activities, Games & Puzzles and Plush product category, belonging to the North America segment 
effective December 4, 2019.

The pro forma and actual results of operations for this acquisition have not been presented and are immaterial. There 
were $0.1 million in transaction related costs included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Assets acquired at the date of acquisition

Fair Value as at Dec 4, 2019
Assets acquired

Inventories 0.7
Intangible assets 5.5

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 6.2
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23.     Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration paid in cash 13.1
Present value of future royalties 2.1
Total purchase consideration 15.2
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 6.2
Goodwill arising from transaction 9.0

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Orbeez as the cost of the consideration paid for the combination effectively included 
amounts for the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth and future market development. These benefits are 
not recognized separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible 
assets.

Acquisition of Hedbanz 

On August 9, 2019, the Company acquired the intellectual property associated with the Hedbanz brand, pursuant to 
a share purchase agreement for total cash consideration of $9.4 million. The Company originally acquired the 
distribution rights to Hedbanz for the U.S and Mexico in 2011. The acquisition secures the Company the global IP and 
the ability to sell, market and license for further penetration into markets presently under license as well as expansion 
into new territories.

The total purchase consideration has been allocated to the identifiable intangible assets based on their estimated fair 
values of $6.5 million (related to the brands and trademarks), $1.7 million related to a deferred tax liability and $4.6 
million of goodwill acquired. The assets are included in the Activities, Games & Puzzles and Plush product category, 
belonging to the North America segment effective August 9, 2019. The pro forma and actual results of operations for 
this acquisition have not been presented and are immaterial. There were $0.1 million in transaction related costs 
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the year 
ended December 31, 2019.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognized at the date of acquisition

Fair Value as at Aug 9, 2019
Assets acquired
  Intangible assets 6.5

6.5
Liabilities assumed
  Deferred tax liability 1.7

1.7
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 4.8

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration paid in cash 9.4
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 4.8
Goodwill arising from transaction 4.6

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Hedbanz as the consideration paid effectively included amounts for the benefit 
of expected synergies, revenue growth and future market development. These benefits are not recognized separately 
from goodwill as they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.
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23. Business combinations (continued)

 Prior year acquisitions

 Acquisition of Gund 

On April 2, 2018, the Company acquired certain assets relating to the Gund line of business from Enesco LLC. Gund 
is a manufacturer and distributor of plush toys and is best known for its line of teddy bears. Established in 1898, Gund 
has a 120-year history as a market leader and toy industry pioneer widely known for its high quality and innovative 
design. The acquisition will further diversify the Company's product line and open up opportunities for broader 
distribution, driving international growth.

Pursuant to the terms set forth in the agreement, the Company acquired control of the Gund brand through the 
acquisition of certain assets, for a total purchase consideration of $77.3 million. As part of the purchase consideration, 
the Company has agreed to pay royalties, calculated for each quarter of the three year royalty term, commencing June 
30, 2018. 

Included in the total purchase consideration of $77.3 million is $0.8 million related to the estimated fair value of the 
future royalty payments as at the acquisition date and $0.5 million of working capital adjustments. The total purchase 
consideration has been allocated to the identifiable intangible assets based on their estimated fair values of $42.4 
million (related to the brand, customer relationships and non-competition agreement) and $19.6 million of goodwill. 
The assets are included in the Activities, Games and Puzzles category, belonging to the North America segment 
effective April 2, 2018. 

There were $0.5 million in transaction related costs included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement 
of earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognized at the date of acquisition

Fair Value as at Apr 2, 2018
Assets acquired
  Accounts receivable 6.8
  Inventories 10.5
  Prepaid expenses 0.2
  Intangible assets 42.4

59.9
Liabilities assumed

Accounts payable 1.7
Accrued royalties 0.5

2.2
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 57.7

The trade and other receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade receivables) in this transaction had gross 
contractual amounts totaling $6.8 million, equal to the fair value as at April 2, 2018. The total balance is expected to 
be collected. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Consideration paid in cash 76.0
Working capital adjustments 0.5
Present value of future royalty payments 0.8
Total purchase consideration 77.3
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (57.7)
Working capital adjustment during measurement period 0.7
Goodwill arising from transaction 20.3
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23. Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Gund as the consideration paid effectively included amounts for the benefit of 
expected synergies, revenue growth and future market development. These benefits are not recognized separately 
from goodwill as they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets. As at the date of acquisition, 
$19.6 million of goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes and is being amortized for tax purposes 
over 15 years.

Acquisition of Fuggler

On January 1, 2018, pursuant to the terms set forth in the agreement, the Company acquired control of Fuggler through 
the acquisition of certain assets, for total purchase consideration of $1.0 million. The total purchase consideration has 
been allocated to the identifiable intangible asset (trade name) based on its estimated fair value of $1.0 million. The 
asset is included in the Boys Action and Construction category, belonging to the North America segment effective 
January 1, 2018. 

24.      Financial instruments and risk management 

Capital management

Management includes the following items in its definition of capital:

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  Share capital 714.5 694.1
  Contributed surplus 35.8 40.9
  Accumulated deficit (28.1) (92.4)
Capital 722.2 642.6

The Company makes adjustments to its capital based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support the 
operations of the business and to ensure that the subsidiaries in the Company will be able to continue as going 
concerns, while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balances.

The Company manages its capital structure, and may make adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. 
In order to maintain or modify the capital structure, the Company may arrange new debt with existing or new lenders, 
or obtain additional financing through other means.

Management reviews its capital management strategy for reasonability on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach is reasonable. There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year 
ended December 31, 2019.

The Company is subject to capital requirements under the credit facility agreement, as described in Note 15. As at 
December 31, 2019, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants.

Financial risk management objectives

Management’s objective is to protect the Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis against material 
economic exposures and the variability of results from various financial risks that include foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Due to the nature of the Company’s international operations, it is exposed to foreign currency risk driven by fluctuations 
in exchange rates. Risk arises because the value of monetary assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures arising 
from transactions denominated in foreign currencies may vary due to changes in exchange rates (“transaction 
exposures”) and because the non-US dollar denominated financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries may 
vary on translation into the US dollar presentation currency (“translation exposures”). These exposures could impact 
the Company’s earnings and cash flows.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign 
currency risk.



Spin Master Corp.
Consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018

37

24. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

As at December 31, 2019, the Company is committed under outstanding foreign exchange contracts to purchase US
$, representing total purchase commitments of approximately $15.8 million (2018 - $39.3 million). 

Foreign currency risk - sensitivity analysis

The Company is primarily exposed to the Canadian dollar, the Peso, the British Pound and the Euro. A sensitivity rate 
of 5.0% is used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel, and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates to which the Company is 
exposed.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, a 5.0% strengthening of the above currencies against the US$ would have 
resulted in a decrease to net assets of $4.2 million (2018 - an increase to net assets of $0.8 million). 

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, and 
adjusts their translation as at the end of the reporting period for a 5.0% change in foreign currency rates. 

Interest rate risk - management

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Company’s financial assets and liabilities will increase or decrease in value due 
to a change in interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk as its loan facilities bears interest at a 
variable rate.

Interest rate risk - sensitivity analysis

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on financial instruments. A sensitivity rate of 50 basis points is used 
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel, and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates to which the Company is exposed.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, with all other variables held constant, a 50 basis point increase in interest 
rates would have resulted in a decrease to interest income of $0.3 million for the year (2018 - no impact to net income). 

Credit risk

As the Company usually grants credit to customers on an unsecured basis, credit risk arises from the possibility that 
customers may experience financial difficulty and may be unable to fulfill their financial obligations.

This risk is managed through the establishment of credit limits and payment terms based on an evaluation of the 
customer’s financial performance, ability to generate cash, financing availability and liquidity status. These factors are 
reviewed at least annually, with more frequent reviews performed as necessary.

In addition, the Company uses a variety of financial arrangements to ensure collectability of trade receivables, including 
requiring letters of credit, cash in advance of shipment and through the purchase of insurance on material customer 
receivables.

As at December 31, 2019, approximately 46.5% (2018 - 44.9%) of the Company’s trade receivables are from three 
major retail customers which represent approximately 48.0% of gross product sales for the year ended December 31, 
2019 (2018 - 47.9%). The Company's credit insurance provides coverage for all of these customers. 

As at December 31, 2019, approximately 42.5% (2018 - 34.0%) of the Company’s other receivables are from the  
provincial and federal governments of Canada. 

The Company mitigates credit risk on its cash balance by ensuring deposits are with financial institutions with high 
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and ensuring that the counterparties are banks and 
government agencies. 

Liquidity risk

The following details the Company’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial liabilities with contractual 
repayment periods. The tables reflect the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the Company can be required to pay, including both interest and principal.

To the extent that interest rates are floating, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end 
of the reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Company may be required 
to pay.
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24. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

The Company's contractual maturities are as follows:

Less than
1 year 1-5 years

5 years and
thereafter TotalAs at December 31, 2019

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 345.6 — — 345.6
Provisions and contingent liabilities 26.2 9.0 — 35.2

371.8 9.0 — 380.8

Less than
1 year 1-5 years

5 years and
thereafter TotalAs at December 31, 2018

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 276.8 — — 276.8
Provisions and contingent liabilities 29.2 1.7 — 30.9

306.0 1.7 — 307.7

Financing facilities

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Bank loan facilities
  Amount unused 534.5 541.8
Bank loan facilities 534.5 541.8

Fair value measurements 

With the exception of foreign exchange forward contracts, the Company does not currently record any financial assets 
or liabilities at fair value in the financial statements and their carrying amounts approximate their fair values. 

The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts generated an unrealized loss of $0.5 million as at December 31, 
2019 and is recorded in other liabilities (2018 - liability of $1.0 million). These fair values are categorized within Level 
2 of the fair value hierarchy.  The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is estimated based on forward exchange 
rates observable at the end of the reporting period and contract forward rates.

25. Segment information 

Spin Master’s portfolio includes children’s products, brands and entertainment properties which are grouped into five 
major categories as follows:

(i) Activities, games & puzzles and plush
(ii) Remote control and interactive characters
(iii) Boys action and construction
(iv) Pre-school and girls
(v) Outdoor

Information reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance focuses on geographical areas rather than product category. The executives of 
the Company have chosen to organize the Company around the 3 operating segments as follows: (i) North America, 
(ii) Europe, and (iii) Rest of world. Factors considered in determining the operating segments include the nature of 
the Company’s business activities, the management structure directly accountable to the CODM, availability of discrete 
financial information and strategic priorities within the organizational structure.
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25. Segment information (continued)

Segment revenue and results

The Company’s revenue and results from operations by reportable segment are as follows:

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Revenue by segment
  North America 1,026.3 1,085.2
  Europe 430.4 376.3
  Rest of world 234.5 246.5
Gross product sales 1,691.2 1,708.0
Sales allowances 227.5 198.4
Total net sales 1,463.7 1,509.6
Other revenue 117.9 121.9
Total revenue 1,581.6 1,631.5

Segment income before tax expense
  North America 51.9 175.6
  Europe 23.9 26.9
  Rest of world 18.7 11.8
Total segment income before tax expense 94.5 214.3
Corporate and other (9.5) (5.9)
Income before income tax expense 85.0 208.4

Revenues for North America include revenues attributable to Canada of $158.3 million (2018 - $180.6 million) for the 
year ended December 31, 2019.

Revenue reported by segment above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in the current year (2018 - nil). The Company does not include sales adjustments such as trade discounts 
and other allowances in reporting revenue by segment (referred to as "gross product sales”).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Company’s accounting policies described in 
Note 2. Segment income represents income before income tax expense earned by each segment prior to any allocation 
of other expenses, foreign exchange loss (gain) and finance costs. This measure is reported to the CODM for the 
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  North America 872.7 720.9
  Europe 211.2 143.2
  Rest of world 120.7 77.1
Total segment assets 1,204.6 941.2
Corporate and other 51.8 58.0
Total assets 1,256.4 999.2
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25. Segment information (continued)

Non-current assets by reportable segment are detailed as follows:

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  North America 395.1 295.5
  Europe 26.9 13.3
  Rest of world 13.4 7.5
Total segment non-current assets 435.4 316.3
Corporate and other 60.3 60.8
Total non-current assets 495.7 377.1

Non-current assets for North America include assets attributable to Canada of $140.2 million as at December 31, 2019
(December 31, 2018 - $91.0 million). 

Segment liabilities

Dec 31, Dec 31,
(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  North America 387.6 271.4
  Europe 68.9 48.1
  Rest of world 56.9 40.7
Total segment liabilities 513.4 360.2
Corporate and other (17.4) (23.5)
Total liabilities 496.0 336.7

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than deferred tax assets, other long-term assets and computer 
software. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units. Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated 
on the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and

• all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than royalties payable (included within trade payables and 
other liabilities) and deferred tax liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated 
in proportion to segment assets.

Capital expenditures by reportable segment

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  North America 81.1 73.4
  Europe 7.5 5.4
  Rest of world 5.6 3.7
Total capital expenditures 94.2 82.5

Depreciation and amortization by reportable segment

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  North America 66.9 62.5
  Europe 9.4 6.3
  Rest of world 4.6 3.2
Total segment depreciation and amortization 80.9 72.0
Corporate and other 3.7 2.2
Total depreciation and amortization 84.6 74.2
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25. Segment information (continued)

In addition to the depreciation and amortization reported above, $5.6 million impairment losses were recognized in 
respect of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for year ended December 31, 2019 (2018 - $0).  

Revenue from major product categories

The Company’s worldwide revenues based on its major product categories are as follows:

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
  Activities, games & puzzles and plush 457.7 455.5
  Remote control and interactive characters 299.3 505.4
  Boys action and construction 331.4 133.1
  Pre-school and girls 516.2 517.5
  Outdoor 86.6 96.5
Gross product sales 1,691.2 1,708.0
Sales allowances 227.5 198.4
Total net sales 1,463.7 1,509.6
Other revenue 117.9 121.9
Total revenue 1,581.6 1,631.5

Major customers

Sales to the Company's three largest customer accounted for 48.0% (2018 - 47.9%) of consolidated gross product 
sales for the year ended December 31, 2019. The top three customers contributed 10% or more to gross product 
sales. No other single customer contributed 10% or more to gross product sales of the Company for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.

(US$ millions) 2019 2018
Gross product sales

Customer 1 403.1 409.5
Customer 2 240.8 246.4
Customer 3 168.5 161.4

Total 812.4 817.3

26. Prior year comparatives

Certain prior year comparatives have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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